P 4
-

Nickelore Limited

Nickelore Limited

ABN 13 086 972 429

Annual Financial Report

For the Year Ended 30 June 2010




Contents

DHMECAOTS" REPIOM........cocovsvereivseems et sen s suss sss st sessss st s v e s 10 88805 58 et 54t e 9 et sttt oo+ eeeeseseeseees s
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income........

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of ChaNGes iN EQUIY ............c.cevevceeisnienimeeeever e mserssssisisssss st ssss st cosseessssessesseseees st oessessssesseeseeessseos s seeeee oo
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow...............

Noles to the Financial Statements .........ccccoumniiiieicroienseenns
Independent Audit Report to the Members of Nickslore Limited......
Auditors' Independence Declaration ... eeeineineesecenins
Corporate Governance Statement.........
Schedule of Mineral Tenements............
Additional ShAreNOIder IMFOMIBHON ..........coooe i s RSt et eSS e s st

NICKELORE LIMITED  FINANCIAL ANNUAL REPORT 2010 Page 1



Directors’ Report

Your directors present their report on Nickelore Limited (‘Company’, “Nickelore” or “Parent Enfity’) and its confrolled entities (*Group” or
“Consolidated Entity") for the financial year ended 30 June 2010.

1. DIRECTORS

The names and details of the directors in office at any time during or since the end of financial year are:

e David Martin (Resigned 21 August 2009)
»  lggy Tan (Resigned 30 Seplember 2008)
=  Mark Bojanjac (Resigned 29 September 2010)
»  Andrew Radonjic {Resigned 16 Qclober 2009)
*  Martin Pyle (Appointed 21 August 2009) (Resigned 30 September 20089)
*  Ron Heeks {(Appointed 16 October 2009)
¢ lan Cunningham {(Appointed 30 September 2008)
s Robert Gardner {Appointed 29 September 2010)
2, PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The principal activity of the Consolidated Entity during the financial year was the exploration for nickel, gold, copper, uranium, and other
base metals, and investment in the minerals exploration and development sector. The curment activity is in Western Australia.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the economic entity's principal activities during the financial year,

3. OPERATING RESULTS

The Consolidated Entity reported a net foss of $115,460 for the financial year {2008: $405,270 loss).
4. DIVIDENDS PAID OR RECOMMENDED

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend and no amount has been paid or declared by way of a dividend to the date of
this report.

5. SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS

During the year there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity other than disclosed in the Financial
Report.

6. AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS

Subsequent to the end of ihe financial year, the following has cccurred:

In July 2010 Nickeiore signed a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with the holders of a prospective manganese, gold and copper project
on the island of Flores, Indonesia (Project). Nickelare has the right to acquire up to a 90% interest in the Project via payment of share and
cash consideration and meeling phased exploration expenditure requirements as summarises below.

Stage Cash Payment | Share Payment (# NIO Exploration Work Project interest held by
9 (US$) Shares}) Program {A$} Nickelore (%)
Execution MOA 100,000 10,000,000(1) - 10
Year 1 - 20,000,000 2,000,000 51
Year 2 - 35,000,000 3,000,000 75(ii)
Year 3+ - 15,000,000 {iii) 75-+iil)
Toial 100,000 80,000,000 5,000,000(jii) Maximum 90%(iiiy
Notes: )
i) Initial share payment of 10m shares subject to 12 month escrow from date of MOA.

{ii) Reduced to 26% if Nickelore elects not to proceed beyond Years 1 or 2.

{iii) In the event the vendor elects not to contfribute to Project expenditure post Nickelore's expenditure of A$5M in Years 1 & 2,

Nickelore will acquire an additional 5% interest for each additional A$15M of exploration and development expenditure undertaken
by it, up to a maximum interest of 80%.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly altered or may significantly alter the

operations of the Consclidated Entity, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity in financial years
subsequent to 30 June 2010,

1. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The Company's environmental obligations are regulated under both State and Federal Law. The Company has a policy of complying with
its environmental performance obligations. No environmental breaches have been notified to the Company to the date of this report.

8. INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

Robert Gardner Non Executive Chairman Appointed 29 September 2010
Qualifications
Experience Mr Gardner is a Perth based business proprietor, with over 25 years experience in the mining industry.

Mr Gardner has developed a number of projects that are now major assets of ASX fisted companies.
Mr Gardner is also a major shareholder in the Company.

Interests in Shares and | 32,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares

Options

Other Directorships During the last three years Mr Gardner has also served as a director of the following other Australian
listed companies:
Dragon Mountain Gold Limited * *denotes cumrent
directorship

Ron Heeks Executive Director * Appointed 16 Oclober 2009

Qualifications B.App.Sc

Experience Mr Heeks is a geologist with more than 25 years experience in the Australian, Asian and African

exploration and mining industry. Mr Heeks has worked for numerous companies including Western
Mining, Newcrest, Newmont and Resource Service Group (now Coffey) and was a former co-director of
Exploration and Mining Consultants that operated out of offices in Kalgoorlie, Perth and Jakarta. More
recently Mr Heeks was General Manager Technical for Straits Asia Resources, based in Indonesia,
responsible for their gold and coal operations and later the Whim Creek copper mine.

Interests in Shares and | Nil
Oplions

Other Directorships Nil
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Directors’ Report (continued)

lan Cunningham

Executive Director and Company Secretary Appointed Director 30 Seplember 2009

Qualifications

B Comm, LLB, CA

Experience

Mr Cunningham is a Chartered Accountant and holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree and Bachelor of
Laws degree. Mr Cunningham has a corporate advisory background with Deloitte in Australia and the

United Kingdom, during which time he provided general corporate, capital raising, valuation, transaction
and strategic advice to a range of listed and unlisted clients.

Interests in Shares and

30,000 fully paid ordinary shares

Options 100,000 options at $0.14, expiring 30 August 2011
100,000 options at $0.30, expiring 30 June 2012
Cther Directorships Nil
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Directors’ Report (continued)

12.

REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited)

This report outiines the remuneration arrangements in place for directors and executives being:

Directors

Mr David R Martin Independent Non-Executive Chairman
Mr lggy Tan - Executive Director

Mr Mark Bojanjac Non-Executive Director and Chairman
Mr Andrew Radonjic Non-Executive Director

Mr Ron Heeks Executive Director

Mr lan Cunningham Executive Direclor and Company Secretary
Mr Robert Gardner Non-Executive Chairman

Named Executives

Mr John Lewis Chief Financial Officer
Remuneration Philosophy

The performance of the Company depends upon the quality of its directors and executives. To prosper, the Company must attract, motivate
and retain highly skilied directors and executives.

To this end, the Company embaodies the following principles in its remuneration framework:

Provide competitive rewards to attract qualified and experienced executives;
¥ Link executive rewards to length of service, experience and overall performance of the Company; and
Equity participation Is a cost effective and efficient incentive given the Company's pre-production status.

Remuneration Structure

In accordance with best practice corporate govemance, the structure of non-executive direclor and senior management remuneration is
separate and distinct.

Non-Executive Director Remuneration

Objective
The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level which provides the Company with the abillity o attract and retain direclors of the
highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost which is acceptable to shareholders.

Structure

The Constitulion and the ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate remuneration of non-executive directors shall be determined from
time lo time by a general meeting. An amount not exceeding the amount determined is then divided between the directors as agreed.

The amount of aggregate remuneration sought to be approved by shareholders and the manner in which it is apportioned amongst
directors is reviewed annually. The Board considers advice from extemal consultants as well as the fees paid to non-executive directors of
comparable companies when undertaking the annual review process. '

Each non-executive director receives a fee for being a director of the Company. No additional fees are paid for participation on sub-
committees, such as the Audit Committee. Non-executive directors are encouraged by the Board to hold shares in the Company.

Accordingly, they are entitled to participate in equily incentive schemes offered by the Company. The director's fees payable to non-
executive directors are $50,400 each per annum.

Director's fees are reviewed annually by the Board. No termination payments are payable to non-executive directors. The remuneration
received by non-executive directors for the year ended 30 June 2010 is detailed in the proceeding tables.

Sanior Manager and Executive Director Remuneration

Objective
Generally, compensation is provided by the Company fo its executive officers by way of salary and share option grants. The objective Is to
ensure lhat executive compensation is fair and reasenable in order to attract and retain qualified and experienced executives.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

12. REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) (continued)

Structure

Fixed remureration consists of base cash remuneration and statutory superannuation entitiements. Longer term discretionary

remuneration consists of share option grants. Remuneration levels are based on an overall assessment of both individual and Company
performance.,

The Company believes that encouraging its executives and employees to become shareholders is the best way of aligning their interest to
those of its shareholders. In addition, equity participation is a cost effective and efficient incentive as compared to cash bonuses or
increased remuneration, particularty given the Company’s pre-production status. Accordingly, all executives and employses are entitled to
participate in the Company’s equity incentive scheme. Generally, the ability to exercise an option is conditional upon the holder remaining

in the Company's employment. There are presently no other non-cash benefits available to directors or employees. There is no separaie
profit-sharing or bonus plan.

The contracts for service between the Company and directors and executives are on a continuing basis, the terms of which are not
expected to change in the immediate future. Upon retirement, directors and executives are paid employes benefit entitlements accrued fo
date of retirement. The Company may terminate the contracts without cause by providing one month's written notice. Termination

payments {if applicable) are generally not payable on resignation or dismissal for serious misconduct. In the instance of serious misconduct
the Company can terminate employment at any time.

Employment Contracts
Directors

Ron Heeks
Appointed an Executive Director on 9 July 2010. Base remuneration is $50,400 per annum. No termination payments applied.

lan Cunningham

Director and Company Secretarial Agresment, Terms of Agreement — commencing on 30 September 2008 for no fixed term. Annual fees
of $50,400. No termination payments applied.

Other Named Executives

John Lewis

¢ Terms of Agreement — commencing on 26 November 2007 for no fixed term.
»  Baseremuneration is $170,000 per annum plus statutory superannuation.

+  One month notice period for fermination.

s Remuneration reviewed annually by the Board.

[ ]

Termination benefits payable on termination of the coniract amount to one months' salary.
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Directors’ Report {continued)
12.  REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) (continued)
Remuneration of Directors and Named Executives

Remuneration pelicies and packages applicable to the directors and senior executives are reviewed annually by the Board, having regard
to performance against goals set at the start of the year, relative comparative information and independent expert advice.

Details of the nature and amount of emoluments of each director and executive officer during the financial year are:

Short-Term Post-Employment Long Equity Total
Term
Benefits
Salary & Bonus Non- Buper- Prescribed Long Options* %
Fees Monetary annuation Benefits Service Remuner-
leave ation
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ Conslsting of
Directors Optlons
DR Martin (resigned 2010 5417 - 460 488 - - - 6,365
21 August 2009)
Chairman 2008 49,792 - 2,087 4,481 - - 79,582 | 135952 59%
M Pyle (resigned 30 2010 4,556 - 230 492 - - - 5,278 -
September 2009}
Chairman 2009 - - - - - - - - -
M T Bojanjac (resigned | 2010 39,927 - 2757 - - - - 42,684 -
29 September 2010)
Director/Chaimnan
2009 39,964 - 2087 - - - 52,900 94,951 56%
I Tan (resigned 30 2010 16,250 - 689 1.463 - - - 18,402
September 2009}
Executive Director 2009 146,622 - 10,758 13,196 - - 397744 | 568,320 70%
R Hecks 2010 33,600 - 1,838 - - - - 35,438 -
Director 2009 - - - - - - - - -
A Radonjic {resigned 16 | 2010 5,833 - 919 525 - - - 7,277 -
QOctober 2009)
Director 2000 30,641 - 2,087 2,758 - - - 35,486 -
| Cunningham 2010 37,273 - 2,757 - - - - 40,030 -
Executive Director - 2009 33,019 - 2,087 2,787 - - 23,775 61,668 38%
Company Secretary
R Gardner 2010 - - - - - - - - -
Executive Director 2009 - - - - - - - - -
Named Executive
J Lewls 2010 | 179,023 - 2,757 15,300 - - - 197,080 -
Chief Financial Officer 2009 | 185224 - 2,087 15,790 - - 33,868 | 236,969 14%
2010 | 321,879 - 12,407 18,268 - - - | 352554
Total 2009 | 485262 - 21,193 39,012 - - | 587,879 | 1,131,346

* Options wers granted in the 2008 financial year, a portion of which vested in the 2008 financial year. For details on the valuation of the options, including models and assumptions
used, please refer to Note 28.

There are no executive officers that are not also directors of the parent entity that are not disclosed in the above table.
Options Granted as Part of Remuneration for Year Ended 30 June 2010

There were no options granted lo the Directors or Officers of the Company during the Year Ended 30 June 2010,
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Directors’ Report (continued)
12.  REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)

Options Granted as Part of Remuneration for Year Ended 30 June 2009

There were no options granted to the Directors or Officers of the Company during the Year Ended 30 June 2009. The value of options

cancelled in 2009 was as follows:

Value of options Value of options Value of options Value of options
granted duringthe  exercised duringthe  lapsed duringthe  cancelled during the
yaar year year yeart
$ $ $ $

Directors
D Martin : . 869
| Tan - - - 5425
M T Bojanjac - . - 660
| Cunningham : = - -
R Heeks - . :
M Pyle - =
A Radonjic . =
R Gardner - - -
Named Executives
J Lewis - - 575
Total -

7,529

* Rerpresents the estimated fair value of the oplions at the date of cancellation. For details on the valuation of the optians, including models and assumgptions used, please rafor

to Note 26.

There were no alterations to the lerms and conditions of options granled as remuneration since their grant date.

Shares issued on exercise of remuneration options

During and since the end of the financial year, no shares were issued on the exercise of remuneration options.

Option Holdings of Key Management Personnel

Balance Granted as Options Options

Balance Vested at Vested and
30 June 2010 1 July 08 remuneration  exercised Lapsed 30 June 10 30 June 10 exercisable
Directors
M Pyle - - E & - -
D Martin - - . - -~ .
M Bojanjac 300,000 - . 300,000* 300,000 300,000
A Radonjic 600,000 - - 600,000* 600,000 600,000
i Tan E - - > . -
1 Cunningham 200,000 - . - 200,000 200,000 200,000
R Heeks = - .
R Gardner : v e
Named Executive
J Lewis = - - - - .
Total 1,100,000 - - - 1,100,000 1,100,000 1,100,000

* Held at date of resignation as a Director.

Balance Granted as Options Options Options Balance Vestedat  Vested and
30June2009 1July08  remuneration  exercised Expired Cancelied  30June09 30June09 exercisable
Directors
D Martin 860,000 - - (880,000) - .
M Bojanjac 860,000 . - {560,000; 300,000 300,000 300,000
A Radonijic 800,000 (300,000) - 600,000 600,000 600,000
| Tan 4,600,006 - {4,600,000) : :
Named
Executive
I. Cunningham 570,000 - - (370,000) 200,000 200,000 200,000
J Lewis 570,000 - - {570,000) - . .
Total 8,360,000 - - (300,000} (6,980,000  1,0G,000 1,100,000 1,100,000
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Directors’ Report (continued)
13.  OPTIONS

As at the date of this report the unissued ordinary shares of Nickelore Limiled undar option are as follows:

Grant Date Date of Expiry Exercise Price Number Under Option
12 July 2008 30 Aprl 2011 $0.20 1,350,000
30 August 2006 30 August 2011 $0.19 100,000
27 Qctober 2006 30 August 2011 $0.14 100,000
20 July 2007 30 June 2012 $0.30 300,000
30 January 2008 29 January 2013 $0.30 1,500,000
11 December 2008 31 December 2012 $0.12 3,500,000
6,850,000
No parson entitied 1o exercise thess options had or has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any share issue of any cther body
corporate.

Shares issued on exercise of options

During the year 71,000,000 oplions were exercised by Wingstar Investments Piy Lid {"Wingstar®).
Since the end of the financial year, no ordinary shares have been issued as a resull of the exercise of options.

14,  MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

The number of directors’ meelings (including Audit Committes mestings) held during the financial year and the numbers of meetings

atiended by each director were:
Directors’ Meetings Audit Committee Meetings
Director Number eligible o Number atiended ~ Number eligible to Number attended
attend atiend
D Martin 2 2
t Tan 3 3
M Bojanjac 4 3 1 -
A Radonjic 3 3 1 1
R Heeks 1 1
M Pyle 2 1 1 1
| Cunningham 4 4 1

15.  INDEMNIFICATION OF AUDITORS AND OFFICERS

During or since the end of the financial year the Company has either given an indemnity or entered into an agreement to indemnify, or paid
or agreed {o pay insurance premiums as follows:

Except as may be prohibited by the Corporations Act 2001, every Officer of the Company shall be indemnified out of the property
of the Company against any liability incurred by him in his capacily as Officer of the Company or any related corporation in respect
of any act or omission whatsoever and howsoever occurring or in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal;

Since the beginning of the financial year the Company has paid insurance premiums of $12,408 in respect of directors and officers
liability and corporate reimbursement, for directors and officers in the Company. The insurance premiums relate to;

*  Indemnifying the Company against any payment which it has made and was legally permitted to make arising out of any
claim, by reason of any wrongful act, committed by any director or officer in their capacity as a director or officer of the
Company or any related corporation, first made against the director or officer during the period of insurance; and

*  Any loss for which the directors and officers may not be legally indemnified by the Company arising out of ény claim, by
reason of any wrongful act committed by them In their capacity as a director or officer of the Company or any related
corporation, first made against them jointly or severally during the period of insurance.

The insurance policy oullined above does not allocate the premium paid 1o each individual officer of the Company.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

16.  AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE AND NON-AUDIT SERVICES

Auditor Independence

The auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2010 has been received and can be found on page 39.
Non-Audit Services
The following non-audit services were provided by the entity's auditors, Stantons Internationat. The directors are satisfied that the provision

of non-audit services is compalible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act. The nature
and scope of each type of non-audit service provided means that auditor independence was nol compromised.

2010 2008
$ $
A company associated with Stantons Intermational received or are due to recsive the following
amounts for the provision of non-audit services:
Tax Compliance Services - 3,750

17. PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF COMPANY

No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any proceedings to which the
Company is a part for the purpose of taking respensibility cn behalf of the Company for all or any part of those proceedings.

The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

S

lan Cunningham
Executive Director
Perth, Western Australia
29 September 2010
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

Notes

Continuing operations
Revenue 4

Employee benefits expense
Corporate expenses

Premises expense

Administration expenses
Exploration expenses write off
Write off of new project expenditure

—
S oo en

Loss from continuing operations before tax and finance costs

Finance costs 5
Depreciation expense 12
Loss before iIncome tax

Research and development tax refund
Loss after tax from continuing operations

Other comprehensive income
Income tax on other comprehensive income

Total Comprehensive loss for the period

Loss after tax aftributable to members of the Company
Total Comprehensive loss attributable to members of the Company

Eamings per share (cents per share)
Basic loss for the year 21
Diluted Loss for the year 21

Consolidated Entity
2010 2009
$ $
846,847 1,347,853
{366,822) {1,233,055)
(86,412) {423,740)
{101,118) (79,382)
(25,925) {53,897)
{16,191} {291,388)
(358,303) .
(108,924) (733,609
{2,503) (33,907}
{4,033) {7.547)
{115,460) {775,063)
- 369,793
{115.460) {405,270)
{115,460} (405,270)
{115,460) {405,270}
{115,460) {405,270)
(0.10) (0.45)
(0.10) (0.45)

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income is to be read in conjunction with the Notes 1o the Financial Statements
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 30 June 2010

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Prepayments

Other financial asset

Total Current Assets

Non Current Assets
Piani and equipment
Exploration assets

Other financial assets
Total Non Current Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables
Provisions

Total Current Liabilities

Non Current Liabilities

Payable on Canegrass Acquisition
Total Non Curment Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Confributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated losses

TOTAL EQUITY

Notes

10
11

12
13

15

17

18
18
20

Consolidated Entity

2010 2008
$ $
583,964 1,280,194
25,800 333,326
- 5,968

250,000
859,764 1,619,488
6,077 10,110
2526877 2,496,551
- 157,600
2532954 2,664,261
3,392,718 4,283,749
181,129 922876
31,763 54,493
182,892 977,369
- 710,000
- 710,000
182,892 1,687,369
3,209,826 2,556,380
23,711,576 23,001,576
17,533,027 17,514,121
(38,034.777) (37,919,317)
3,209,826 2,596,380

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the Notes o the Financial Statements
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

CONSOLIDATED lssued Accumulated Option | Sharestobe | Options to be Total
Capital Losses Reserves Issued Issued Equity
$ $ $ $ $ $
At 1 July 2009 23,001,576 (37,919,317) 17,514,121 - - | 2,596,380
Loss for the period - {115,460) - - - (115,480)
Other comprehensive income - - - - - -
Total comprehensive incomel{loss)
for the period . {115,460) . - - (115,460}
Issue of share capital 710,000 - - - - 710,000
Share Options - - 18,906 - - 18,906
At 30 June 2010 23,711,576 {38,034,777) 17,533,027 - - | 3,208,826
Attributable to equity holders of the parent
CONSOLIDATED lssued Accumulated Option Sharesto | Options to be Total
Capital Losses Reserves be Issued Issued Equity
$ $ $ $ $
At 1 July 2008 22,901,826 (37.514,047) 16,258,474 - 562,087 | 2,208,340
Loss for the period - (405,270) - - - {405,270)
Other comprehensive income - - - - . -
Total comprehensive -
Incomef(loss) for the period (405,270) . - - (405,270}
Issue of share capital 99,750 - - - - 98,750
Share based payments - - 693,560 - - 693,560
Options issued - - 562,087 - {562,087) -
At 30 June 2009 23,001,576 (37,919,317) 17,514121 - - | 2,596,380

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Stalements
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers

Payments to suppliers and employees

Payments for exploration and new project expenditure
Receipts on disposal of tenements

Interest received

interest paid

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for plant and equipment
Receipt on sale of investments

Refund of guarantee bonds

Purchase of convertible notes

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of equity securities
Payment for share issue costs

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net increase / {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of vear
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Notes

24

Consolidated Entity
2010 2009
$ $
226,440 672,751
(776,455) (1,216,227}
(479,245) {366,352)
100,000 .
27,933 38,064
(2,503) {3400)
(803,830) (875.,164)
- (908)
300,000 1,200,000
157,600 )
(250,000) )
207,800 1,199,002
(696,230) 323,928
1,280,194 956,266
583,964 1,280,194

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

1.

a)

b)

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The financial report of Nickelore and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2010 was authorised for issue in accordance
with a resolution of the direciors on 29 Sepiember 2010.

Nickelore is a public company incorporaled in Western Australia whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian Securities Exchange.
The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are described in the Directors Report,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

The financial report is a general-purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards. Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting

Standards (A-IFRS). Compliance with A-FRS ensures that the financial statements and noles of the Consolidated Entity comply with
Intemational Financial Reporting Standards

The financia! report has also been prepared on the accruals basis and historical cost basis, except for available for sale investments, which
are measured at fair value. The carrying values of any recognised assets and liabilities that are hedged items in fair value hedges, and are
otherwise carried at cost, are adjusted to record changes in the fair values attributable to the risks that are being hedged.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to al periods presented in the financial report except where stated.

Separate financial statements for Nickelore as an individual entity are no longer presented as the consequence of a change to the
Corporations Act 2001, however required financial information for Nickelore as an individual entity is included at Note 28,

Adoption of new and rovised Accounting Standards
New Accounting Standards Applicable from 1 July 2009
The Group has adopted the following new and amended Australian Accounting Standards and AASB Interpretations as of 1 July 2008.

The adoption of these standards has impacted the disclosure and presentation of certain information in the financial statements. The
revised version of AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements has certain terminology changes including the amendment of the
names of the primary financial statements. The Group's financial statements now include a statement of comprehensive income. The
revised version of AASB 101 includes the concept of 'other comprehensive income' which comprises of income and expenses that are not
recognised in the profit and loss as required by other Australian Accounting Standards. For the year ended 30 June 2010 there are no
components of other comprehensive income. The revised version of AASB 8: Operating Segments requires the 'management approach' to
the identification, measurement and disclosure of operating segments. As the Group only operates in the exploration area and only in
Australia, the adoption of the management approach to segment reporting has not resulted to a change in the reportable segments in 2010.
The Group has adopted revised AASB3 Business Combinations and amended AASB 127 Consolidated and separate financial statements
for business combinations occurring in the financial year starting after 1 July 2009. All business combinations occurring on or after 1 July

2009 are accounted for by applying the acquisilion method. The change in accounting policy is applied prospectively and had no impact on
eamings for the year.

New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods

The AASB has issued new and amended accounting standards and interpretations that have mandatory application dates for future

reporting periods. The Group has decided against early adoption of these standards, A discussion of those future requirements and their
impact on the Group follows;

+  AABB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 2009-11; Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB @ (AASB 1, 3,

4,5,7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121,127, 128, 131, 132, 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 10 & 121 (applicable for annual
reporting periods commencing on or alter 1 January 2013).

These standards are applicable retrospeclively and amend the classification and measurement of financial assets. The Group has not
yei determined the potential impact on the financial statements.

The changes made to aceounting requirements include:
- simplifying the classifications of financial assets into those caried at amortised cost and those carried at fair value;
- simplifying the requirements for embedded derivatives;
- removing the tainting rules associated with held-to-maturity assets;
- removing the requirements to separate and fair value embedded derivatives for financial assets carried at amortised cost;

- allowing an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on investments in equity instruments that are not
held for trading in other comprehensive income. Dividends in respect of these investments that are a return on invesiment can be
recognised in profit or loss and there is no impairment or recycling on disposal of the instrument; and
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

2

SUMMARY GF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

reclassifying financial assets where there is a change in an entity's business model as they are initially classified based on;
a.  the objective of the entity's business mods! for managing the financial assets; and
b.  the characteristics of the contractual cash flows.

AASB 124: Related Party Disclosures (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011),

This standard removes the requirement for government related entities lo disclose details of all transactions with the government and
other government related enfities and clarifies the definition of a related party to remove inconsistencies and simplify the structure of
the standard. No changes are expected to materially affect the Group.

AASE 2008-5; Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project [AASB 5, &,
101, 107, 147, 118, 136 & 139] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing from 4 January 2010).

These standards detall numerous non-urgent but necessary changes to accounting standards arising from the IASB's annual
improvements project. No changes are expected to materially affect the Group.

AASB 2009-8; Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions [AASB 2]
{applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on of after 1 January 2010).

These amendments clarify the accounting for group cash-seitled share-based payment fransactions in the separate or individual
financia! statements of the entity receiving the goods or services when the entity has no obligation to settle the share-based payment
transaction. The amendments incorporate the requirements previously included in Interpretation & and Interpretation 11 and as a

consequence, these two Interpretations are superseded by.the amendments. These amendments are not expecied to impact the
Group.

AASB 2009-10: Amendments fo Australian Accounting Standards - Classification of Rights Issues} AASE 132] applicable for annual
reporting periods commencing on or after 1 February 2010}.

These amendments clarify that rights, options or warranis to acquire a fixed number of an entity's own equity instruments for a fixed
amount in any currency are equity instruments if the entity offers the rights, options or warrants pro-rata to ali existing owners of the
same class of its own non-derivative equity instruments. These amendments are not expected to impact the Group.

AASB 2008-12: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASBs 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 & 1031 and
Interpretations 2, 4, 18, 1038 & 1052] {applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011),

This standard makes a number of editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, including
amendments to reflect changes made to the text of Intemational Financial Reporting Standards by the IASB. The standard also
amends AASB 8 to require entities fo exercise judgment in assessing whether a govemment and entities known to be under the control

of that govemment are considered a single customer for the purposes of certain operaling segment disclosures. These amendments
are not expecied to impact the Group.

AASB 2008-13. Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Interpretation 19 [AASB 1] (applicable for annual
reporting periods commencing on or after 1 July 2010}.

This standard makes amendments to AASB 1 arising from the issue of Interpretation 18. The amendments allow a first-time adopter to
apply the transiiional provisions in Interpretation 19. This standard is not expecied fo impact the Group.

AASB 2009-14: Amendments lo Auslralian Interpretation - Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement [AASB inferpretation 14]
{applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011).

This standard amends Interpretation 14 to address unintended consequences thal can arise from the previous accounting
requirements when an enlity prepays future contributions into a defined benefit pension plan. This standard will not impact the Group.

AASB Interpretation 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments {applicable for annual reporting periods commencing
on or after 1 July 2010).

This Interprelation deals with how a debior would account for the extinguishment of a liability through the issue of equity instruments.
The Interpretation states that the issve of equity should be treated as the consideration paid to extinguish the fiability, and the equity
instruments issued should be recognised at their fair value unless fair value cannot be measured reliably in which case they shall be
measured at the fair value of the liability extinguished. The Interprefation deals with situations where either partial or full settlement of
the liability has occurred. This Interpretation is net expected {o impact the Group.

The Group doss not anticipate the early adoption of any of the above Australian Accounting Standards.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the Year Ended 30 June 2010

2.

c)

d)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Going concemn

The directors have prepared the financial statements on a going concem basis, which contemplates continuity of normal business aciivities
and the realisation of assets and extinguishment of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.

The Consolidated Entity has recorded a nel accounting loss of $115,460 and net operating cash outflows of $803,830 the ysar ended 30
June 2010. The directors believe the going concem basis is appropriate as:

e  The cash assets of the Group at 30 June 2010 were $0.58 million.

e The Group continues to offset some of its employee costs by subcontracting some of its staff out to third parties in order 1o generate

fees. During this financiat year the Company received $177,554 for these services and the Board expects that a similar amount will be
generated in the coming financial year.

e The Board is pursuing further financing options for the Company.

Based on the above and the capacily to reduce expenditure commiiments (if required), the Board is confident that the Group will have
sufficient funds to finance its operations in the 2010/2011 Financial Year.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of entities controlled by Nickelore at the end of the
reporting period. A controlled entity is any entity over which Nickelore has the power to govem the financial and operating policies so as to
obtain benefits from the entity's activities. Control will generally exist when the parent owns, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, more

than half of the vofing power of an entity. In assessing the power to govem, the existence and effect of haldings of actual and potential
voting rights are also considered.

Where controlled entities have entered or left the Group during the year, the financial performance of those entities are included oniy for the
perind of the year that they were controlled. A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 19 to the financial statements.

In preparing the consclidated financial statements, all inter-group balances and transactions between entities in the consolidated group

have been eliminated on consolidation. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with those adopted by the parent entity.

Non-controlling interests, being the equity in a subsidiary nol atiributable, directly or indirectly, to a parent, are shown separately within the
Equity section of the consolidaled Slatement of Financial Position and Statement of Comprehensive Income. The non-controlling interests

in the net assets comprise their interests at the date of the original business combination and their share of changes in equity since that
date.

. Business combinations

Business combinations occur where an acquirer obtains control over one or more businesses and resulis in the consolidation of its asssts
and liabilities.

A business combination is accounied for by applying the acquisition method, unless it is a combiration involving entities or businesses
under comman control, The acquisition method requires that for each business combination one of the combining entities must be identified
as the acquirer fie parent entity). The business combination will be accounted for as at the acquisition date, which is the date that control
over the acquiree is obtained by the parenl enlity. Al this date, the parent shall recognise, in the consolidated accounts, and subject to
certain limited exceptions, the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, in addition, contingent liabilities of the
acquiree will be recognised where a present obligation has been incurred and its fair value can be reliably measured.

The acquisition may result in the recognilion of goodwill (refer to Note 1(n)) or a gain from a bargain purchase. The method adopted for the

measurement of goodwill will impact on the measurement of any non-controlling interest to be recognised in the acquiree where less than
100% ownership interest is held in the acquirers.

The acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred for a business combination plus the acquisition date fair value of any
previously held equity interest shall form the cost of the investment in the separate financial statements, Consideration may comprise the

sum of the assets transferred by the acquirer, fiabilities incurred by the acquirer to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the acquirer.
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2.

€)

9)

h)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Fair value uplifts in the value of pre-existing equity holdings are laken to the statement of comprehensive income. Where changes in the
value of such equity holdings had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income, such amounts are recycled to profit or loss.

Included in the measurement of consideration transferred is any asset or liability resufting from a contingent consideration arrangement.
Any obligaticn incurred relaling to contingent consideration is classified as either a financial liability off equity instrument, depending upon
the nature of the amangemenl. Rights to refunds of consideration previously paid are recognised as a receivable. Subsequent fo initial
recognition, contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent seftlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration classified as an assel or a liability is remeasured each reporting period to fair value through the statement of
comprehensive income unless the change in value can be identified as existing at acquisition date.

All transacticn costs incurred in relation to the business combination are expensed to the statement comprehensive income.

Significant accounting estimates and assumptions

The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and assumpiions of future events. The key

estimates ard assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the camrying amounts of certain assets and
liabilities within the next annual reporting period are:

Share based payment fransactions

The Group measures the cost of equity-settied transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the
date al which they are granted. The fair value is determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model.

The Group measures the cost of cash-settied share based payments at fair value at the grant date using the Black-Scholes formula taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted.

Mineral exploration and evaluation

Acquisition, exploration, evaluation and development expenditure incured is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest.
These costs are carried forward in respect of an area that has nol, at balance date, reached a stage which permits a reasonable

assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable resarves, and active and significant operations in, or relating to, the
area of interest are continuing.

Inter-company loans and advances

The Parent Entity funds the operations of ils subsidiaries through interest free loans and advances. The recoverability of these loans is

dependent on the successful exploitation of the subsidiaries exploration assets. Provision for non recoverability is assessed by
management annually.

Impairment of non financial assets other than goodwill

The Group assesses impairment of all assets al each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Group and to the parficular
asset that may lead to impairment. These include economic and political environments and the future exploration and development

expeclations. If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the assel is determined. This involves value in use calculations,
which incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions.

Deferred taxation

Potential future income tax benefits have not been brought to account at 30 June 2010 because the Directors do not believe that it is
appropriate to regard realisations of future income tax benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expanse when incurred, except for borrowing cost relating to qualifying assets when the interest is
capitalised o the qualifying assets.

Cash and cash squivaients

Cash and cash equivalents in the Slatement of Financial Position comprise cash af bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an
original maturity of three months or less.

For the purposes cf the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net
of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables, which generally have 30-80 day terms, are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any
uncollectible amounts.

An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written off when identified.
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2
i)

)

k}

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments

All investments are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given and including acquisition charges associated
with the investment. After initial recognition, investments, which are classified as held for trading and available-for-sale, are measured at
fair value. Gains or losses on investments held for frading are recognised in the income statement.

Gains or losses on available-for-sale investments are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented as a separate component
of equity until the investment is sold, collecled or otherwise disposed of, or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time
the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as held-to-maturity when the Group

has the positive intention and ahility to hold to maturity. Investments intended fo be held for an undefined period are not included in this
classification.

Other long-term investments that are intended to be held-to-maturily, such as bonds, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition, over the period to

maturity. For investments carried at amortised cost, gaing and losses are recognised in income when the investments are derecognised or
impaired, as well as through the amorlisation process.

For investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets, fair value is determined by reference to Stock Exchange quoted
market bid prices at the close of business on the Statement of Financial Position date.

For investments where there is no quoted market price, fair value is determined by reference fo the current market value of another

instrument which is substantially the same or is calculated based on the expected cash flows of the underlying net asset base of the
investment.

Purchases and sales of financial assets thal require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or
convention in the market place are recognised on the irade date i.e. the date that the Group commits to purchase the asset.

Financial instruments

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement,
Transaction costs on the issue of equily instruments are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the proceeds of the equity
instruments to which the costs relate. Transaction costs are the costs that are incurred directly in connection with the issue of those equity
instruments and which would not have been incured had those instruments not been issued.

Interest and dividends are classified as expenses or as distributions of profit consistent with the statement of financial position classification
of the related debt or equity instruments or component parts of compound instruments.

Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisition is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the acquirer's interest in

the nel fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Goodwill is subsequently measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill is not amortised.

For the purpose of impairment tesling, goodwill is allocated to each of the cash-generating units ("CGUs™ expected to benefil from the

combination's synergles. CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicated that the carrying value may be impaired.

If the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the camying amount of the CGU, an impairment loss is allocated first 1o reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU and then lo the other assets of the CGU pro-rata on the basis of the camying amount

of each asset in the CGU). An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or loss and is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

On disposal of an operation within a CGU, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or luss on
disposal of the operation.

Recoverable amount of assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where an indicalor of
impairment exists, the Group makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount, Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. It is determined for an individual asset, unless that
assel's value in use cannot be estimated to be close o its fair value less costs to sell and it does not generate cash inflows that are largely

independent of those from other assels or groups of assets. In which case, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
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2, SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequenlly reverses, the camrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but only to the extent that the increased camying value does nol exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately,
unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

m)  Income tax

Current tax assets and liabiliies for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the

taxation authorities. The tax rates and iax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date.

Deferred lax is provided on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except:

When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a business
combination) which affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or

When the taxable temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill; or

When the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in joint ventures, and

the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets can be utilised, except:

When the deductible temporary difference giving rise to the asset arises from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities (other
than as a result of a business combination) which affects neither accounting profit nor taxable income; or

When the deductible temporary difference is associated with investrnents in subsidiaries, associates or interests in joint venlures,
in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary difference will reverse in
the foreseeable future and faxable profit will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised,

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred ax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income 1ax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet dale and are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that future taxable profit will aliow the deferred tax assel to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply fo the year when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and fax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheei date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

n) Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:

when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from fhe taxation authority, in which case the GST
is racognised as part of the cost acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

receivables and payabies are stated with the amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is inciuded as part of receivables or payables in the balance
sheet.

Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing and
financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable 1o, the taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority.

0) Interest in joint venture operations

Where the Group has an interest in a joint venture operation, it is accounted for by recognising the Group's assets and liabilities from the

joint venturs, as well as expenses incurred by the Group and the Group's share of income samed from the joint venture, in the consolidated
financial statements.

p) Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of the leased asset to the Group. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Finance leases are capitalised, recording an asset and a liability equal to the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value
of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values. Leased assets are depreciated on a diminishing valus basis
over their estimated useful lives where it is likely that the Group wilt obtain ownership of the asset or over the term of the lease. Lease
payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the period.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Property, plant and equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Plant and aquipment

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes
expenditure that is direcily attributable to the acquisition of the item.

Depreciation is calculated on a siraight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:
Computer equipment 3 years
Plant and equipment 3 fo 4 years
Fumniture and fittings 3 to 4 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect
of any changes recognised on a prospective basis.

Provisions and employee leave benefits

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a prasent obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an

outfiow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settie the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting date,
taking into account the risks and uncerlainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cashflows estimated to
settle the present obligation, its carrying value is the present value of those cashflows. When some or all of the economic bensfits required
to settle a provision are expected lo be recovered from a third party, for example under an insurance contract, the receivable is recognised
as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Employee leave benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expecied to be setlled within
12 months of the reporting date are recognised in respect of employees' services up to the reporting date. They are measured al the
amounts expected o be paid when the liabilities are seffied. Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is
taken and are measured &t the rates paid or payable.

Revenue

Revenue is recognised lo the extent that il is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably
measured.

Interest revenue is accrued on a fime basis, by reference to the principal cutstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is

the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected fife of the financial asset to that asset's net camying
amount.

Share based payment transactions

The Group provides benefits to employees {including senior executives) of the Group in the form of share based payments, whereby
employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity-séttled transactions).

There is currently one plan in place to provide these benefits:
The Company's employee share option plan (ESOPY), which provides benefits to directors and senior axecutives.

The cost of these equily-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date
at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by management using a Black-Scholes model.

In valuing equity-setiled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the
shares of Nickelore (market conditions) if applicable.

The cost of equity-seflled transactions is recognised, together with a comespanding increase in equily, over the period in which the

performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award
{the vesting pericd).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-seftled transactions at each reporting date untit vesting date reflects () the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and (i) the Group's besl estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest, No adjustment
is mads for the likelihood of market performance conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of

fair value ai grant date. The income statement charge or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as
at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ulimately vest, except for awards where vesting is only conditional upon a market
condition.

I the terms of an equity-setiled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified. In

addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the fotal fair value of the share based payment arrangement, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at the date of modification.

If an equily-settled award is cancelled, it is trealed as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for
the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituied for the cancelled award and designated as a raplacement

award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share {see Note
21}

Trades and other payables

Trade payables and other accounls payable are recognised when the Consolidated Entity becomes obliged to make future payments
resuliing from the purchase of goods and services.

Provision for rehabilitation

Provision is made for anticipated costs of rehabilitation necessitated by disturbance arising from production activity in respect of certain
tenements in the period in which the disturbance occurred. The provision for tenement rehabilitation is provided in respect of a performance
guarantee under Department of Mines obligations over site restoration requirements over certain tenements.

Rehabilitation costs are accumulated in the provision on a producfion output basis commencing in the period that disturbance oceurs, In
determining the rehabilitation obligations, the entity has assumed no significant changes will oceur in the relevant Federal & Stale
legislation in relation to rehabilitation of the disturbances arising from preduction activity in respect of those tenements,

Exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and evaluation costs related to an area of interest are carried forward only when rights of tenure to the area of interest are
current and provided that one of the following conditions is met:

such costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area of interest, or allematively by
its sale; or

exploration andfor evaluation activities in the area of inlerest have not, at balance date, reached a state which permits a

reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations
in, ot in relation to, the area are continuing.

Accumulated costs in respect of areas of interest which are abandoned are written off in full in the year in which the decision to abandon
the area is mads.

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest fo determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward costs in relation to
that area of interest.

Comparatives

Certain comparatives have been reclassified where necessary to be consistent with the current year's disclosures.
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3. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company predominantly operated in one geographical segment for the 2010 and 2009 Financial Years. The Company received a
minimal amourt of $4,334 ($920 in 2009) in relation to previous discontinued operations.

The Group operates in the mineral exploration industry in Australia. For management purposes, the Group is organised intc one main
operaling segment which involves the exploration of minerals in Australia. Al of the Group's activifies are interrelated and discrete financial
information is reported to the Board (Chief Operating Decision Maker) as a single ssgment. Accordingly, all significant aperating decisions
are based upon analysis of the Group a3 one segment. The financial results from this segment are equivalent to the financial statements of

the Company as a whole.
Consolidated Entity
2010 2009
$ $
4, REVENUE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Other income

Rendering of services 177,555 256,816
Interest revenug 46,756 33,894
Other income 49776 46,142
274,087 336,852

Non-operating revenue
Sale of investments - 1.500,000
Carrying value of capitalised tenement acquisition cost in the subsidiary - {900,000)
Profit on sale of investments - 600,000
Profit from deconsolidation of subsidiary E 411,001
Gain on reduction of liability 572,760 .
572,760 1,011,001
Total Revenue 846,847 1,347 853

In August 2008 Nickelore and Wingstar entered a Nickel Alliance whereby both parties agreed to present their nickel assets together for
possible sale or joint venture as the Canegrass Project. Contemporaneous with this agreement the parties cancelled the Mineral Rights

Agreement and agreed a compromise to forgive all outstanding amounts due between the parties. As a result Nickelore recorded a gain in
the amount of $572,760.

5. EXPENSES FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Employee benefits expenses
Wages and salaries 212,926 355,252
Directors fees 125,683 117,973
Superannuation 25,253 57,501
Share based payments expense - 693,560
Other payroll expense 2,960 8,769
366,822 1,233,055
Premises expenses
Rent expense 66,867 61,548
Other office expenses 34,251 17,834
101,118 79,382
Corporate expenses
Accounting and auditing fees 28,351 80,705
Augtralian listing fees 20,304 14,738
Legal fees 14,397 308,455
Share registry fees 14,798 18,642
Other professional services 7,562 1,200
86,412 423740
Administration expenses
Communications expense 1,800 7,867
Insurance 19,310, 39,997
Other administrative expenses - 6,013
Travel expensas 4815 .
25,925 53897
Finance costs
Unwinding of discount on rehabilitation provision 17,648
Inferest expenses 2,503 16,260
2,503 33,908
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Consolidated Entity
2010 2009
$ $
6. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
Remuneration of the auditor of the parent entity (Stantons intemational)
for:
Auditing services 28,101 20,487
Other setvices - 3,750
Total 28,101 24,237
1. INCOME TAX
Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facle tax
payable
Loss from ordinary activities before income tax expense {115,460) (775,063}
Prima facie tax benefit on loss from ordinary activities at 30% (2009: 30%) (34,638) (232,519)
Tax effect of amounts which are nol deductible (taxable) in calculating
taxable income:
- Non deductible 27,274 222 966
- Capital raising costs (30,560} (32,508)
- Movement in capitalised exploration expenditure {9,088} 247 511
- Provisions {11,877} {130,256)
Tax effect of Bardoc Tectonic Zone Pty Lid losses taken on the sale of the
subidiary ‘ 620,830
Tax effect of current year tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has
been recognisad {58,889) 696,026
Research & development tax refund 369,793
Unrecognised temporary differences
Deferred tax assets (at 30%)
On income fax account
Capital raising costs 40,719 88,255
Provisions 1,033,072 1,044,949
Carry forward tax losses 3,580,201 3,531,302
4,663,992 4,644 506
On capital account
Carry forward tax losses 3,008,377 3,006,377
7,670,369 7,650,883
Deferred tax liabilities {at 30%)
Capital exploration costs {758,063) {748,965)

Potential future income tax benefits arising from tax losses have not been brought to account at 30 June 2010 because the directors do not
believe it is appropriate to regard realisation of the future income {ax benefits as possible. These benefits will only be obtained if:

assessable income is derived of a nature and of amount sufficient to enable the benefit from the deductions to be realised;
the Group continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by law; and
no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the realisation of the benefit from the deductions.

8 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and in hand 183,964 80,194
Deposits at call 400,000 1,200,000
583,964 1,280,194

Cagh at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between 1 day and 3 months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and eamn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.
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Consolidated Entity

2010 2009
$ $
9, TRADE AND CTHER RECEIVABLES (Current)
Trade and other receivables 6,977 31,365
Interest receivable 18,823 1,981
Balance owing on Bardoc sale - 300,000
25,800 333,326

These amounts arise from the usual operating activities of the Consolidated Entity and are non-interest bearing. The debtors do not
contain any overdue or impaired receivables.

10.  PREPAYMENTS

Prepayments - 5,968
- 5,968

1. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Convertible notes 250,000 -
250,000 _

Convertible notes were issued in November 2009 at $10,000 per convertible note with an interest rate of 12% per annum. The redemption
date of these notes is 12 months from the date of issued and can be extended to 24 months. The notes can be redeemed for cash or can
be converted to shares in Dragon Mountain Gold 11d at the lesser of $0.25 per share or a 15% discount to the volume weighted average
market price aver the 5 days ending the day before the date of Redemption.

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and equipment

Al cost 50,995 50,995
Accumulated depreciation (44,918) {40,885)
Total plant and equipment 6,077 10,110

Movements in carrying amounts
Movement in the carrying amounts of plant and equipment between the beginning and end of the current financial year:

Balance at the beginning of the year 10,110 16,749
Additions - 908
Deprecialion expense {4,033) (7,547)
Carmying amount at the end of the year 6,077 10,110

13. NON CURRENT EXPLORATION ASSETS

Tenement acquisition at cost

Balance as at the start of the financial year 295,200 1,195,200
Value of Bardoc project sold during financial year - {900,000}
Balance as at the end of the financial year 295,200 295,200
Exploration expenditure at cost

Balance at the start of the financial year 2,201,351 2,126,387
Exploration expenditure - BTZ 16,191 288,572
Exploration expenditure — NIC 30,326 76,780
Exploration expenditure written off (18,191) {281,388)
Balance as at the end of the financial year 2,241,677 2,201,351
Total exploration interests 2526,877 2,496,551

The exploration written off is net of $100,000 proceeds on disposal of tenements,
The value of the ecenomic entity's interest in exploration expenditure is dependent upon:

a) the continuance of the economic antity’s righis to tenure of the areas of interest;
b) the results of future exploration; and
c) the recoupment of costs through successful development and exploitation of the areas of interest, or alternatively, by their sale.

The Company's exploration properties may be subject to claim(s) under native title or contain sacred sites or sites of significance to
Aboriginal people. As a result, exploration properties or areas within the tenements may be subject to exploration restrictions, mining

restrictions andfor claims for compensation. At this time, it is not possible lo quantify whether such claims exist, or the quantum of such
claims.
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Consolidated Entity

2010 2009
$ $

14,  OTHER NON CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS
Deposits secured by bank guarantees - 157,600
- 157,600

15.  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables 123,458 13,860
Payments due to the ATO - 14,037
Sundry payables and accruals 11,631 94,979
Deferred consideration - 800,000
Augdit accrual 16,000 -
161,128 922,876

These amounts arise from the usual operating activities of the Censclidafed Entity and do not contain any overdue amounts,

16. PROVISIONS

Current

Employee benefits . 31,763 54,493
31,763 54,493
Number of employees at end of financial year 2 2

17. PAYABLES

Non-current
Payable on Canegrass acquisition ** - 710,000
710,000

**The Payable on Canegrass Acquisition relates to the purchase of the Mineral Rights by Nickelore from Wingstar. Pursuant to the Mineral Rights
Agreement "MRA”), Wingstar was granted 71,000,000 options to purchase shares in Nickelore at an exercise price of 1 cent per share. Pursuant to
the MRA Nickelore must refund the exercise price of the options to Wingstar. in February 2010 Wingstar exercised the 71,000,000 options. The
exercise price of $710,000 was offset against The Payable on Canegrass Acquisition resulting in a nil cash flow effect on Nickelore.
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Consolldated Entity

2010 2009
$ $
18. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
a) Ordinary shares
Balance at beginning of financial year 23,001,576 22,801,826
Issue of fully paid ordinary shares - cash - 99,750
lssue of fully paid ordinary shares - on exercise of options at 1 cent each 710,000 -
Balance at end of financial year 23,711,576 23,001,576
2010 2009
No of shares No of shares
Ordinary shares
Balance at beginning of financial year 89,845 886 88,420,886
Shares issued on exercise of Wingstar options 71,000,000 .
Issue of fully paid post consolidation shares g 1,425,000
Balance at end of financial year 160,845,886 80,845,886
Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends.
b) Options
At 30 June 2010, the unissued ordinary shares of Nickelore under option are as follows:
Grant Date Date of Expiry Exercise Price Number Under Option
12 July 2006 30 April 2011 $0.20 1,350,000
30 August 2006 30 August 2011 $0.19 100,000
27 Qctlober 2006 30 August 2011 $0.14 100,000
20 July 2607 30 June 2012 $0.30 300,000
30 January 2008 29 January 2013 $0.30 1,500,000
11 December 2008 31 December 2012 $0.12 3,500,000
6,850,000
No person entilled to exercise these options had or has any right by virtue of the option to parficipate in any share issue of any other body

corporate.
Shares issued on exercise of options

During the year 71,000,000 options were exercised by Wingstar Investments Pty Lid.
Since the end of the financial year, no ordinary shares have been issued as a resull of the exercise of options.

During and since the end of the financial year, no options lapsed or were cancelled.
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19.

20.

RESERVES

Share based payments reserve
Options fo be issued reserve

Movements:

Share based payments reserve
Balanca at beginning of year
Share based payments
Options issued

Balance at end of year

Qptiong lo be issued reserve
Balance at beginning of year
Options to be issued
Options issued

Balance at end of year

Nature and purpose of reserves

Share based payments reserve

Consolidated Entity
2010 2009
$ $
17,533,027 17,514,121
17,533,027 17,514,121
17,514,124 16,258,475
18,906 693,560
- 562,086
17,633,027 17,514,121
562,086

(662,086)

The share based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options issued.

Options to be issued reserve

The options to be issued reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options which have been agreed to, but that are not yet issued.

ACCUMULATED LOSSES

Accumulated losses at beginning of financial year
Net loss aftributable to members of the parent entity
Accumulated losses at end of financial year

(37,919,347) (37,514,047)
(115,460) {405 270)
(38,034,777) (37,819,317)
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21.

a)

b)

22,

a)

b)

c)

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Consolidated Entity
2010 2008
$ $
Loss used in the calculation of basic and dilutive eamings per share {115,460) {405,270}
Eamings per share

Basic loss per share (cents per sharg) (0.10) {0.45)
Diluted loss per share (cents per share) (0.10} (0.45)

Effect of dilutive securities

There was dilutive potential ordinary share on issue at balance dale. However given the Company has made a loss, there is no dilution of
earnings herce the diluted loss per share is the same as for basic loss.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Exploration commitments
In order fo maintain cumrent rights of tenure to mining tenements, the Consolidated Entity has the following exploration expenditure

requirements up until expiry of leases. These obligations, which are subject to renegotiation upon expiry of the leases, are not provided for
in the financial statements and would be payable:

Consolidated Entity

210 2009

$ $

Not later than one year 51,240 311,510
Later than one year, but not later than five years 142,480 1,166,060
193,720 1,477 570

If the Consolidated Entity decides to relinquish certain leases and/or does not meel these obligations, assets recognised in the Statement

of Financial Position balance sheet may require review to determine the appropriateness of canying values. The sale, transfer or farm-out
of exploration rights fo third parties will reduce or extinguish these obligations.

Operating lease and other funding commitments
Consolidated Entity

2010 2009
$ $

Property lease
Not tater than one year 52,500 -
Later than one year, but not later than five years . .
Later than five years - -
52,500 -

Contingent liabilities

Nickelore is the subject of a Wit of Summons claiming $86,241 for works provided to Nickelore. A statement of claim was filed on 18
September 2008 by the plaintiff. This matter is the subject of ongoing negotiations. However should this matter proceed to frial and
Nickelore be unsuccessfu! in it defence of the claim, then it could be hiable for the full amount of the claim, $86,241, plus any costs. At this
time the amount of any costs cannot be estimated. The economic entity is not aware of any other contingent liabilities which existed as at
the end of the financial year or have arisen as at the date of this report.
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23,

24,

CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Nickelore is the ultimate parent entity of the Group.

The following were controlied entities at balance date and have been included in the consolidated financial statements. All shares held are

ordinary shares.
Percentage Interest Heid
Country of 2010 2009 Date Acquired /
Name Incorporation % % Incorporated
Parent Entity:
Nickelore Ltd Australia
Subsidiaries of Nickelore Ltd:
IAR Heldings Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 31 August 2008
IAR Holdings Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 26 January 2010

These twa subsidiaries are dormant. As a result there were no activities during the year,

Consolidated Entity

2010 2008
$ $

CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Reconciliation from net loss after tax to the net cash
flows from operations

Net profit {logs) {115,460) {405,270)
Non cash flows included in operating loss: - -
Exploration costs written off - 291,388
Depraciation 4033 7,547
Unwinding of discount on provision for rehabilitation - 17,648
Share based payments expense 18,906 693,560
Capitalised cost of realised investment - 900,000
Liability written back on sale - (411,001)
Cash fiows not included in operating loss: - .
Payments for exploration (30,326) (366,352)
Receipt from on sale of plant . (1,200,000)
Changes in assets and liabifities: - -
Decrease / (increase) in trade and other receivables 7,526 {325,637)
Decrease / (increase} in prepayments 5,968 4170
(Decrease) / increase in other provisions (22,730) (21,522
(Decrease) / increase in frade and other payables (771,747} {59,695)
Net cash used in operating activities (903,830) {875,164)

Non cash financing and investing activities:

During the year 71,000,000 options were exercised by Wingstar at 1 cent per share for a total of $710,000 which was offset against a

payable to Wingstar of $710,000.
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25.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the

basis on which revenues and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument
are disclosed in Note 2 to the financial statements.

b. Credit risk exposures

Credit risk represents the loss that would be recognised if the counterparties defaull on their contractuat obligations resulting in financial
loss to the Consolidated Enfity. The Consolidated Entity has adopted the policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterpariies and

obtaining sufficient collateral or other security where appropriate, as a means of mitigaling the risk of financial loss from defaults. The
Consolidated Entity measures credit risk on a fair value basis.

The Consolidated Entity does not have any significant credit risk to any single counterparty or any Group of counterparties having similar
characteristics. The credit risk on financial assets, excluding investments, of the Consolidated Entity which have been recognised in the
Statemnent of Financial Position, is the carrying amount, net of any provision for doubtful debts.

The Consolidated Entity minimises concentrations of credit risk by undertaking transactions with a large number of customers.

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past, due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to extemnal credit ratings (if
available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates;

Economic Entity
2010 2009
$ $
Trade receivables
Group 1 - 300,000
Group 2 25,800 33,325
Group 3 - -
Total trade receivables 25,800 333,326
Cash at bank and short-term deposits
Counterpariies with external credit rating (Moody's)
Rating "B 583,964 1,280,194
583,964 1,280,194

Group 1 — new customers {less than & months)
Group 2 - existing customers (more than & months) with no defaults in the past
Group 3 — existing customers (more than 6 months) with some defaults in the past. All defaults were fully recovered.

c. Interest rate risk

The Consolidated Entity's exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instrument's value will fluctuate as a result of
changes in market interest rates, and the effective weighted average interest rate for classes of financial assets and financial liabilities

comprises:
2010 Floating Fixed Interest  Fixed interest Non-

Weighted  interestrate  maturingin1  maturing over interest Total

average $ year or less 1to 5 years bearing $

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2.92% 583,964 . - 583,964
Trade and other receivables - - - 25,800 25,800
Other 12.00% - 250,000 - - 250,000
Total 583,964 250,000 - 25,800 859,764
Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables - . - 151,129 161,129
Payable on Canegrass acquisition - - - - - -
Total . - - - 151,129 151,129
Net Financial Assets/(Liabilities) 583,964 250,000 - {125329) 708,635
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25.

d)

e}

26.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

2009 Floating Fixed interest  Fixed interest Non-

Walghted interestrate  maturingin1  maturing over  interest Total

average $ year or less 1 to 5years bearing $

Financlal Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5.50% 1,260,194 - - 1,280,194
Trade and other receivables - - - - 333,326 333,326
Other 5.95% - - 157,600 - 157,600
Yotal - 1,280,194 - 157,600 333326  1,771.120
Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables - - 922,876 022,876
Payable on Canegrass Acquisition - - - - 710,000 710,000
Total - - - 1632876 1632878
Net Financial Assets - 1,280,194 - 157,800  {1,299,550) 138,244

The policy is to monilor the interest rate yield curve out to 120 days to ensure a balance is maintained between the liquidity of cash assets
and the interest rate of return.

As at the reporting date, the Group had the following variable rate cash and cash equivalents outstanding:

30 June 2010 30 June 2009

Weighted Weighted
average Balance average Balance

interest rate interest rate
% $ % §

Financial assets

Cash at bank 0.80% 183,984 0.10% 80,194
Term deposits 3.90% 400,000 3.15% 1,200,000
583,964 1,280,194

Group sensitivity

Al 30 June 2010, if interest rales had changed by -+ 0.50% from the year-end rates with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for
the year would have been $2,919 lowerfhigher (2009 - change of 0.50%: $6,401 lowerhigher).

Liquidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by continuously menitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial
assets and liabilities. Surplus funds are generally only invested in short term bank deposits.

Net fair value

The carrying amount of financial assets and liabiliies recorded in the financial statements represents their respective fair values
determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosad in Note 2 of the financial statements.

Foreign currency risk
The group is not materially exposed to foreign currency risk.
SHARE BASED PAYMENT PLAN

The following table illustrates the number (No.) and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of and movements in share oplions issued
during the year (at post consolidation values):

2010 2010 2009 2009
No. WAEP No. WAEP

Outstandirg at the beginning of the year 77,850,000 0.03 82,175,000 0.05
issued during the year - 0.00 6,000,000 0.08
Forfeited during the year - 0.00 (8,000,060} 0.35
Exercised during the year (71,000,000} 0.01 - 0.00
Expired during the year - 0.00 {2,325,000) 0.03
Qutstanding at the end of the year 6,850,000 0.18 77,850,000 0.03
Exercisable at the end of the year 6,850,000 0.18 77,100,000 0.03
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26.

SHARE BASED PAYMENT PLAN (continued)

The outstanding balance as at 30 June 2010 is represented by:

= 1,350,000 options over ordinary shares with an exercise price of $0.20 each, with no vesting conditions and exercisable until 30 April
2011,

= 100,000 options over ordinary shares with an exercise price of $0.19 each with no vesting conditions and exercisable until 30 August
2014;

¢ 100,000 options over ordinary shares with an exercise price of $0.14 each with no vesting conditions and exercisable untif 30 August
2011;

e 300,000 options over ordinary shares with an exercise price of $0.30 each upon meeling certain vesting conditions and exercisable
until 30 June 2012;

= 1,500,000 options over ordinary shares with an exercise prica of $0.30 each upon meeting certain vesting conditions and exercisable
until 29 January 2013;

= 3,500,000 options over ordinary shares with an exercise price of $0.125 with no vesting conditions and exercisable until 31 December
202,

The weighted average remaining conlractual life for the share options oulstanding as at 30 June 2010 is 778.60 days : 2010/2013 (2009:
322.24 gays).

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was $0.125 - $0.30 (2009: $0.01 ~ $0.30).

The fair value of the equity-setiled share options granted under the option plan is estimated as at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes
options pricing model taking into account the terms and conditions upan which the opticns were granted.

The following table lists the inputs to the model for optiens issued or outstanding at 30 June 2010;

2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010
$0.125 $0.20 $0.30 $0.20 $0.30 $0.30 $0.20
_Options _ Options _ Options _ Options _ Options _Options  Options

Dividend yield (%) - - - - - -
Expocted volatility (%) 100 100 100 100 100 100 100
Risk-free interest rate (%) 6.20 6.20 6.20 6.20 .20 6.20 6.20
Expected life of options {years) 3.06 4,00 4.00 417 4,00 417 417
Discount for unlisted options (%} 30 30 30 30 30 30 30
Option exercise price ($) 0.125 0.20 0.30 0.20 0.30 0.30 0.20
Estimated fair value at grant date ($) 0.002 0.09 0.09 0.17 0.13 0.17 0.17
Share Price at Grant Date (3$) o 0.18 0.18 0.30 0.25 0.30 0.03
The following table lists the inputs to the mode! for options issued or outstanding at 30 June 2010:
2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009
$0.125 $0.20 $0.30 $0.01 $0.20 $0.30 $0.30 $0.20
Options _ Options  Options  Options  Options  Options Options  Options
Dividend yield (%) - - - - - - - -
Expected volatility (%) 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100
Risk-free interest rate (%) 6.20 8.20 6.20 8.20 6.20 6.20 6.20 6.20
Expected Iife of options {years) 4.06 5.00 5.00 225 517 5.00 517 517
Discount for unlisted options (%) 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30
Optlion exercise price ($) 0.125 0.20 0.30 0.01 020 0.30 0.30 0.20
Estimated fair value at grant date ($) 0.002 0.08 0.09 021 0.17 0.13 017 017
Share Price at Grant Date ($) oo 0.18 0.18 0.30 0.30 0.25 0.30 0.03

The expected Iife of the options is based en historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. The
expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may aiso not necessarily be the
acluat outcome, No other features of options granted were incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

The fair value of the cash-setfled options is measured at the grant date using the Black-Schoies options pricing mode taking info account
the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted. The services received and the liabiity to pay for those services is

recognised over the expected vesting period. Until the liability is setlled it is remeasured at each reporting date with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.
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27,

b)

28

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Nickelore and the subsidiaries listed in the following table.
Country of % Equity Interest Investment $

Name Incorporation 2010 2009 2010 2009

IAR Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100 0 - :

1AR Resources Ple Ltd Singapore 100 1] - -

Nickelore is the ultimate parent entity of the Group.

Both the related party companies above are dormant and there were no transactions that were entered into with subsidiaries during the
year.

Compensation of key management personnel (by category)
Consolidated Entity

2010 2009

$ $

Short-Term 321,879 485,262
Post-Employment 18,267 39,012
Equity - 587,879
Other 12,408 21,193
352,554 1,133,346

Other related party fransaction

In July 2009 Nickelore entered into a heads of agreement to acquire up to a 51% interest in a Gold and Copper Project in Papua Province,
Indonesia ("Papua Gold & Copper Project’) with Interasian Resources SA (*Interasian™.

Under the heads of agreement, Nickelore will negotiate a formal option agreement to acquire up to a 51% interest in the Papua Gold &

Copper Project over a four year period (‘the Option”). The Option consideration will consist of a combination of cash payments, share
consideration and exploration commitments, which are summarised as follows:

+ Payment of US$140,000 cash;
 The progressive issue of up to 80 million shares over a four year period; and
= Exploralion expenditure of US$5 million over a four year period.

It is important to note that Nickelore can terminaie any cash payments or share issues at any point after the exercise of the Option if the

Company is not satisfied with the exploration performance. The Option Agreement is subject to Nickelore being satisfied with the results of
its ongoing legal due diligence program.

Interasian is a refated pary as Mr Ron Heeks was a Director of Interasian at the date Nickelore antered the above agreement and he
subsequently became a director of Nickelore.

PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION
Financial Position

2010 2009
$ $
Current Assets 859,764 1,619,488
Total Assets 3,392,718 4,283,749
Current Liabilities 182,802 977,369
Total Liabilities 182,892 1,687,369
Shareholder Equity
{ssued Capital 23,711,576 23,001,576
Options Reserves 17,533,027 17,514,121
Accurnulated Loss (38,034 777 (37,918,317
Total Shareholder Equity 3,209,826 2,596,380
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28.  PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION {continued)

Financial Performance

Parent Entity Loss

Total Comprehensive Income/{Loss) of Parent Entity

Other

Nil

29. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Disclosure

Subsequent to the end of the financial year, the following has occurred:

2010 2009

$ $
(115,460) (88,929)
(115,460) (88.929)

In July 2010 Nickelore signed a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with the holders of a prospective manganese, gold and copper project
on the island of Flores, Indonesia (Project). Nickelore has the right fo acquire up to a 90% Interest in the Project via payment of share and
cash consideration and meeting phased exploration expenditure requirements, as summarised below:

Stage Cash Payment | Share Payment (# NIO Exploration Work Project interest held by
{Us§) Shares) Program {A$) Nickelore {%)

Execution MOA 100,000 10,000,000} - 10
Year 1 - 20,000,000 2,000,000 51
Year 2 - 35,000,000 3,000,000 75(ii}
Year 3+ - 15,000,000 (i) 75+Hii)
Total 100,000 80,000,000 5,000,000(jii) Maximum 90%(jii)

Notes;

{i) Initial share payment of 10m shares subject to 12 month escrow from date of MOA,

(i) Reduced to 25% if Nickelore elects not to proceed beyond Years 4 or 2.

{iif} In the event the vendor elects not to contribute to Project expenditure post Nickelore's expenditure of A$5M in Years 1 & 2,

Nickelore will acquire an additional 5% interest for each additional A$15M of exploration and development expenditure underiaken

by it, up to a maximum intarest of 90%.

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significanly altered or may significantly atter the

operations of the Consolidated Entity,
subsequent to 30 June 2010.

the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity in financial years
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

The directors declare that the firancial statements and notes set out on pages 10 to 36 and the disclosures in the Remuneration Report
which are included in the Director's Report:

1. (a) comply with Accounting Standards, the Cofporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements;
(b) give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of its performance, as represented
by the results of their operations, changes in equity and their cash flows, for the financial year ended on that date and
{c} Comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 2.

2. The Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer have each declared that:
{a) the financia! records of the Company for the financiat year have been properly maintained in accordance with section 286 of the
Corporations Act 2001;

{b) the financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with the Accounting Standards: and
{c) the financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view.

3 In the directors’ opinion:
{a) the financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001; and

{b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and
payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resclution of the directors.

Dated this 29th day of September, 2010,

S g

lan Cunningham
Executive Director
Perth, Western Australia
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Stantons Internafional

ABN 41 103 088 697

LEVEL 1, 1 HAVELOCK STREET

WEST PERTH WA 6005, AUSTRALIA

PH: 61 B 9481 2188 « FAX: 61 B 9321 1204
www.stantons.com.au

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF
NICKLEORE LIMITED

Report on the Financial Report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Nickelore Limited, which comprises the
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2010, and the statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on
that date, a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes and the
directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it
controlled at the year's end or from time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ responsibility for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian
Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. In note 2(a), the directors also state, in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial
Statements, that the financial report, comprising the financial statements and notes, complies
with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing
Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial report.

Our audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors

or management. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

S
Liability imited by a scheme approved under 197 Russel!
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Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the
Corporations Act 2001.

Auditor's opinion
In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of Nickelore Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at
30 June 2010 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian
Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as
disclosed in note 2(a}.

Inherent Uncertainty Regarding Going Concern

Without qualification to the audit opinion expressed above, attention is drawn to the following
matters.

As referred to in note 2(c) to the financial statements, the financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis. At 30 June 2010 the consolidated entity had cash and
cash equivalents of $583,964 and net working capital of $676,872. The consolidated entity
had incurred a loss for the year ended 30 Jung 2010 of $115,460.

The ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to continue as going concerns and meet their
planned exploration, administration, and other commitments is dependent upon the Company
and its subsidiaries raising further working capital, and/or commencing profitable operations.
In the event that the Company and its subsidiaries cannot raise further equity, the Company
and its subsidiaries may not be able to meet their liabilities as they fall due and the realisable
value of the Company's and its subsidiaries’ non-current assets may be significantly less than
book values.

Report on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 5 to 8 of the directors’ report for
the year ended 30 June 2010. The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of
the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration
report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards

Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion the remuneration report of Nickelore Limited for the year ended 30 June 2010
complies with section 300 A of the Corporations Act 2001.

STANTONS INTERNATIONAL
{An Authorised Audit Company)
N dtos ke ZJ‘V

J P Van Dieren 7

Director
West Perth, Westermn Australia
29 September 2010
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Stantons International

ABN 41 103 088 697

LEVEL 1, 1 HAVELOCK STREET
WEST PERTH WA 6005, AUSTRALIA
PH: 61 8 94B1 3188 « FAX: 61 8 9321 1204

www.slantons.com.au

29 September 2010

Board of Directors
Nickelore Limited

Level 2

45 Richardson Street
WEST PERTH WA 6005

Dear Directors
RE: NICKELORE LIMITED

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, | am pleased to provide
the following declaration of independence to the directors of Nickelore Limited.

As the Audit Director for the audit of the financial statements of Nickelore Limited for the
year ended 30 June 2010, | declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there
have been no contraventions of:

(i} the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to
the audit; and

(i) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.
Yours sincerely

STANTONS INTERNATIONAL
(Authorised Audit Company)

/
/

JP Van Dieren
Director

|& Russell
Member of Russell Bedford Intesational L jW
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Corporate Governance Statement

The Board of Directors of Nickelore is responsible for the corporate governance practices of the Company. This statement sets out the main
corporate governance practices that were in operation throughout the financial year.

The ASX Listing Rules require listed companies to include in their annual raport a statement disclosing the extent to which they have complied with
the ASX Corporate Governance Council's "Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations ~ 2 Edition” which are as follows:

Principle 1.  Lay solid foundations for management and oversight
Principle 2. Struciure the board to add value

Principle 3. Promote ethical and responsible decision making
Principle 4.  Safequard integrity in financial reporting

Principle 5.  Make timely and balanced disclosure

Principle 6.  Respect the rights of shareholders

Principle 7. Recognise and manage risk

Principle 8. Remunerate fairly and responsibly

{the Principles and Recommendations).

The Recornmendations are not prescriptive so that if a company considers that a Recormmendation is inappropriate having regard to its particular
circumstances, the company has the flexibility not to follow it. Where a company has not followed all the Recommendations, the annual report must
identify which Recommendations have not been followed and give reasons for not following them.

LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT
Role of the Board
The primary responsibilities of the Board are as follows:

To set the goals and objectives for the Company, and to ensure that a sirategic planning process is in place to progress towards
achievement of those goals and objectives;

To monitor progress against goals and objectives and to ensure that comective action is taken where necessary;

Establishing and monitoring policies direcled to ensuring that the Company complies with statutory requirements;

To ensure that where practicable effective risk management measures are in place;

To ensure that the Board itself operates effectively to enhance the performance of the Company;

To ensure that the Managing Director and Senior Executive team of the Company are of high calibre, appropriately rewarded and have
clear understanding of their responsibiliies and delegated authority; and

To ensure that the Company maintains a high reputation with all stakeholders and communicates effectively with them,

Details of the skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of Director by each Director in office at the date of this reporl, and their terms
of office are included in the "Information on Directors and Company Secretary” section of the Directors’ Report.

STRUCTURE THE BOARD TO ADD VALUE

Board Composition

At the end of the financial year the Board comprised one Non—Executive Chairman, one Non-Executive Director and one Executive Director. The
one Executive Director was responsible for the corporate and operational requirements of the Company.

The directors are subject to election by shareholders. ARl direclors, apart from the Managing Director, are subject to re-election by rotation within
every three years. The Company’s Conslilution provides that one-third of the directors retire by rotation at each AGM. Those directors who are

retiing may submit themselves for re-election by shareholders, including any director appointed to fill a casual vacancy since the date of the
previous AGM.

The Board's size and compasition during the financial year was considered appropriate for the Company at its present stage of development and
given the breadth of its membership; most issues can be decided at Board level without the need for separate committees.

Independence of Non-Executive Directors

It is noted that Mr Bojanjac has been an executive director of the Company in the past three years. However, the Board considered that Mr
Bojanjac met the eriteria for independence. Considerations the Board took into account in considering Mr Bojanjac’s independence include the
amount of direclor fees received and the fact that he did not have had a material business ar contractual retationship with the Company, other than
as a director or equity holder, and no conflicts of interest which could interfere with the exercise of independent judgement.

The Board does not consider Mr Heeks to be independent. Accordingly, not all the above directors are considered to be independent,
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Corporate Governance Statement (continued)

Independent Professional Advice

With the prior approval of the Chairperson, each director has the right to seek independent legal and other professional advice at the Company's
expense concerning any aspect of the Company's operalions or undertakings in order fo fulfil their duties and responsibilities as directors.

Board Performance Review

In order to ensure that the Board continues fo discharge its responsibilities in an appropriate manner, the chairperson will review the performance of
all directors annually. Directors whose performance is unsatisfactory will be asked to retire.

The Board of Directors aims to ensure that the shareholders, on behalf of whom they act, are informed of alf information necessary to assess the
performance of the directors. Information is communicated to the shareholders through:

the annual report which is distribisted 1o all shareholders;

the half-yearly report which is distributed to all shareholders;

adherence fo continuous disclosure requirements; and

the annual general meeting and other meetings so called to obtain approval for board action as appropriate.

Director Remuneration

Details of the Company’s remuneration policies are included in the Remuneration Report section of the Directors’ Report,

Nomination Committee

The functions fo be performed by a nomination commitiee under the Recommendations are currently performed by the full Board and this is
reflected in the written policy sefting out the responsibilities of the Board. Having regard to the number of members currently comprising the
Company's Board, the Board doaes not consider it appropriate to delegate these responsibilities to a sub-committee. These arrangements will be
reviewed periadically by the Board to ensure that they continue to be appropriate to the Company's circumstances.

PROMOTE ETHICAL AND RESPONSIBLE DECISION MAKING

Code of Conduct

The Board has adopted a written Board Code of Conduct which applies to the directors of the Company. The Board has also adopted a written
Code of Ethics and Conduct which applies to directors and employees of the Company and supplements the Board Code of Conduct.

The Company is dedicated to delivering outstanding performance for investors and employees. In achieving this objeclive, all directors, officers and
employees are expected 1o acl with honesty, integrity and responsibility and maintain a strong sense of corporate social responsibility. In
maintaining its corporate social responsibility the Company will conduct its business ethically and according 1o its values, consider the environment
and ensure a safe, equal and supportive workplace.

Trading Policy

The Board has adopted a policy in relation fo dealings in the securities of the Company which applies to all directors and employees. Under the
policy, directors are prohibited from short term trading in the Company's securilies and directors and employees are prohibited from dealing in the
Company's securities whilst in possession of price sensitive information. The Chairman, or in his absence, the Company Secretary, must be nofified
of any proposed transacfion and must give clearance for the transaction to proceed.

SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL REPORTING

Audit Committee

The Company has an Audit Committee which operates under a charter approved by the Board. The Audit Commitiee assists the Board in

discharging its responsibilities to ensure that the Company complies with appropriate and effective accounting, auditing, intemal control, business
risk management, compliance and reporting practices.

The functions and specific responsibilities of the Audit Committee include the following:

approving changes to accounting policies and reviewing the impact of changes in Accounting Standards when they are foreseen and when
they occur;

determining that salisfactory arrangements are in place for external auditing of financial affairs;

ensuring systems are in place and operating effectively to ideniify, assess, monitor and manage risks to which the company is exposed;
determining that adequate systems of internal control and procedures have been instituied; and

reviewing any financial matters, fransactions and policies or address any other matters referred to the Commities by the Board.
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Corporate Governance Statement (continued)

The Audit Committee comprises at least three Directors. The members of the Audit Committee a1 the end of the financial year were:

Mr M T Bojanjac (Non-Executive Chairman and Director)
Mr R Heeks (Non-Executive Director)
Mr | Cunningham {Executive Director)

The gualifications and sxperience of each of the current members of the audit committee are listed in the ‘Information on Directors and Company

Secretary” section of the Direclors' Report. The extemnal Auditors, the Company Secretary and the Chief Financial Officer are invited to Audit
Committee meetings at the discretion of the Committee.

MAKE TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE

The Board is committed to the promotion of investor confidence by ensuring that trading in the Company's securities takes place in an efficient,
compefitive and informed market, in accordance with the continuous disclosure requirements under the ASX Listing Rules. The Company has
pracedures in place to ensure that any price sensitive information is identified, reviewed by management and disclosed fo ASX in a timely manner
and that all information provided to ASX is immediately available to shareholders and the market on the Company’s website,

RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS

The Board aims to ensure that shareholders are kept informed of all major developments affecting the Company. Information is communicated to
shareholders as follows:

as the Company is & disclosing enlity, regular announcements are made to Australian Securities Exchange Limited, including half-year
audit reviewed accounts, year end audited accounts and an annual report;

the Board ensures the annual report includes relevant information about the operations of the Company during the year, changes in the
state of affairs and details of future developments; and

the Board encourages full participation of shareholder at the Annual General Meeting to ensure a high level of accountability and
identification of the Company’s strategies and goals.

RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK

The Board is responsible for identifying the risks facing the Company, assessing the risks and ensuring that there are controls for these risks, which
are fo be designed to ensure that any identified risk is reduced fo an acceptable level. The Board will review and discuss sirategic risks and
opportunities arising from changes in the Company's business environment regularly and on an as need basis. The Board may delegate some of
the abovementioned responsibility to commitiees of the board but maintain the overall responsibility for the process.

The Board receives regular reports about the financial condition and operating results of the Consolidated Entity. The Managing Director and the

Chief Financial Officer (or equivalent) annually provides a formal statement to the Board that in all material respects and to the best of their
knowledge and belief:

the Company's financial reports present a true and fair view of the Company’s financial condition and operational results are in accordance
with relevant accouniing standards; and

the Company's risk management and intemal control systems are sound, appropriate and operating efficiently and effectively.

REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND RESPONSIBLY

The Company does not presently operate a remuneration committee and the remuneration of all directors is determined by the members of the
Board of Directors. Having regard to the number of members cumrently comprising the Company's Board, the Board does not consider it appropriate

to delegate these responsibilities to a sub-committee. These arrangements will be reviewed periodically by the Board to ensure that they continus to
be appropriate to the Company's circumstances.

All compensation arangements for directors including the Managing Director are determined by the directors after taking inte account the current
competitive rates prevailing in the market. The amount of remuneration for all directors including the full remuneration packages, comprising all
monetary and non-monetary components of the Executive and Non-Executive Directors, are detalled in the Directors' Report.

Executives will receive base salary, superannuation and in some cases, performance incentives. These packages are reviewed on an ongoing
basis and in most cases wil be reviewed against predetermined performance criteria,

A maximum amount of remuneration for non-executive directors is fixed by shareholders in general meeting and can be varied in that same manner.
in determining the allocation the Board takes account of the time demands made on the directors together with such factors as fees paid to other
directors and to the responsibilities underiaken by them.

Direclors and employees are eligible to participate in the Company’s equity incentive schemes.
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Corporate Governance Statement (Continued)
DEPARTURES FROM COMPLIANCE WITH RECOMMENDATIONS

Pursuant {o the ASX Listing Rules, the Company advises that it does not comply with the following Recommendations. Reasons for the Company's
non-compliance are detailed below.

Recommendation 2.1 — Majority of the Board should be Independent Directors

The Board's size and composition is considered appropriate for the Company at its present slage of development and given the breadth of its
membership. The composition of the Board will be reviewed in line with future Company developments.

Recommendation 2.4 - The Board should establish a Nomination Committee

The functions to be performed by a nomination commitiee under the Recommendations are currently performed by ihe full Board and this is
refiected in the written policy setting out the responsibilities of the Board. Having regard to the number of members currently comprising the
Company's Board, the Board does not consider it appropriate to delegate these responsibilities to a sub-committes. These arangements will be
reviewed periodically by the Boeard to ensure that they continue fo be appropriate to the Company’s circumstances.

Recommendation 2.6 - Provide Information indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 2

One of the matters to be included in the corporate governance section of this Report pursuant fo the Guide to reporting on Principle 2 is “the names
of the members of the nominations committee and their attendance at meetings of the committee”. As stated in the previous paragraph, the Board
does not consider it appropriate for the Company fo establish a nomination commitiee and therefore this information has not been included in the
annual report. In all other respects, the Company has complied with the disclosure requirements contained in the Guide fo reporting on Principle 2.

Recommendation 4.2: - The Audit Committee should be structured so that it consist only of Non-Executive Directors and
is chaired by an Independent Chair, whe is not Chairman of the Board

The Audit Committee now comprises all the directors of the company, the majority of whom are not independent. The Chairman of Nickelore was
also the Chairman of the Audit Committee in the 2010 Financial Year. Having regard to the curent size and composition of the Company’s Board,

the Board considered it necessary for all the Company's directors to be included in the Audit Committee. The composition of the Audit Commitiee
will be reviewed in the event of future changes to the composition of the Board.

Recommendation 8.1 - The Board Should Establish a Remuneration Committee

The functions to be performed by a remuneration committee under the Recommendations are currently performed by the full Board and this is
refiected in the written policy setiing out the responsibilities of the Board. Having regard to the number of members cumently comprising the
Company's Board, the Board does not consider it appropriate to delegate these responsibilities to a sub-commitiee, These arrangements will be
reviewed periodically by the Board fo ensure that they continue to be appropriate to the Company's circumstances.

Recommendation 8.3 - Provide the Information Indicated in Guide to Reporting on Principle 8

One of the matters to be included in the corporate governance section of the annual report pursuant to the Guide to reporting on Principle B is ‘the
names of members of the remuneration committee and their attendance at meetings of the committee.” As staled in the previous paragraph, the
Board does not consider it appropriate for the Company to establish a remuneration committee and therefore this information has not been included

in the annual report. In ali ofher respects, the Company has complied with the disclosure requirements contained in the Guide to reporting on
Principle 8.
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Schedule of Mineral Tenements

MLA 24/6465 NIO 100%
MLA 24/802 NIO 100%
MLA 24/807 NIO 100%
MLA 24/808 NID 100%
MLA 24/838 . NIO 100%
ML 24/863 NIC 100%
P24/4354 NIO 100%

Papertaik Project

E29/680 NIO 100%

Balagundi Project

Tenement Ownership interest

PL 271690

Bardoc Extended Project

ML 24/468 Nickel Rights Only
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Additional Shareholder Information

Additional Information required by the ASX Limited Listing Rules and not disclosed elsewhere in this report.

Ordinary Share Capital
160,845,886 issued ordinary shares held by 1,765 shareholders carry one vote per share.
Options
6,850,000 unlisted options issued, do not carry a right to vote and are exercisable at various prices,
Substantial Holdings
The number of shares / options held by a substantial shareholder as at 31 August 2010 was:
Shareholder Ordinary shares
Robert Charles Gardner 32,000,000

Distribution of shareholders {as at 31 August 2010)

{a) Analysis of numbers of sharehelders by size of holding

Range of Units Total number of Total number of
Shareholders Ordinary shares

1-1,000 138 56,986
1,001 - 5,000 437 1,426,516
5,001 - 10,000 340 2,881,017
10,001 — 100,000 728 25,742,712
100,001 - (MAX) 122 130,739,655
1,765 160,845,886

(b} There were 778 holders holding less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares.

Twanty largest shareholders as at 11 September 2010

Number of ordinary %
shares

1 Wingstar Investments Pty Ltd 32,000,000 19.89
2 World Trend Limited 26,000,000 16.16
3 LL Arthur Limited 15,200,000 9.45
4 Essfor Pty Ltd 13,000,000 8.08
5 Mr Henry James Adams (Adams Family A/C) 3,131,031 1.95
] Aurora Sky Investments Limited 3,070,000 191
7 Mr Gerard Joseph McGann 2,253,001 1.40
8 Mr Gary John George Grogan 1,700,000 1.06
9 Mr Zheng Cang Yi 1,431,416 0.89
10 Mrs Melissa Narbey 1377415 0.86
11 Mr lanaki Semerdziev 1,185,000 074
12 Buschehofen Pty Ltd (Buschehofen PIF AIC) 1,000,600 0.62
13 Casablanca Investments Ply Lid 1,000,000 0.62
14 Mr Philip Gordon C'Prey & Mrs Karen O'Prey (Richian SIF AIC) 1,000,000 0.62
15 Mr Tony Bollelia & Mrs Antionietia Pia Bollelia 900,000 0.56
16 Mr Jean-Jacgues Loofs & Mrs Hermione Loofs (Loofs Super Fund A/C) 721,800 045
17 UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Lid 716,100 045
18 Mr Ross Gordon Little 700,000 0.44
19 Juneau Nominees Pty Lid (The Free Super Fund A/C) 665,551 041
20 Mr Salvatore Danze 600,000 0.37

107,651,314 66.93
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Nickelore
ABN 13 086 972 429

Level 2, 45 Richardson Street
West Perth WA 6005

Telephone: +61 9481 2433
Facsimile: +61 9322 5907

www . nickelore.com.au

NICKELORE LIMITED  FINANCIAL ANNUAL REPORT 2010

Page 47



